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)

d/b/a MOORE JAGUAR,
)



)
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)




)


vs.

)

No. 11-1094 FV



)

JAGUAR LAND ROVER NORTH
)

AMERICA, LLC,

)




)



Respondent.
)

DECISION

We grant Jaguar Land Rover North America’s (“Respondent”) motion for summary decision.

Procedure

On June 1, 2011, Moore Jaguar/Aston Martin, Inc. d/b/a Moore Jaguar(“Petitioner”) filed a complaint
 alleging that Respondent violated § 407.825(5).
  On August 25, 2011, Respondent filed a motion for summary decision, with affidavits of Lee Maas and John J. Sullivan, suggestions in support, and a statement of uncontroverted facts.  On September 16, 2011, Petitioner filed a response to Respondent’s statement of uncontroverted facts, an affidavit of 
Ronald W. Moore, president of Petitioner, and a memorandum in opposition to the motion.  On October 3, 2011, Respondent filed a reply in further support of its motion for summary decision. 
Findings of fact

1. Respondent is the U.S. distributor of Jaguar vehicles, parts, and accessories.

2. Petitioner and Respondent entered into a franchise agreement dated August 6, 2009, by the terms of which Petitioner was granted a franchise to sell Jaguar vehicles.
3. The franchise agreement gave Petitioner a non-exclusive franchise to sell Jaguar vehicles.

4. Under the terms of the franchise agreement, a franchisee’s failure to have a “floor-plan” financing agreement was a ground for termination of the franchise agreement.

5. Under the terms of the franchise agreement, a franchisee’s insolvency, or the filing of a voluntary petition in bankruptcy by a franchisee were grounds for termination of the franchise agreement.

6. Petitioner had a “floor-plan” financing
 agreement with Midwest Bank Centre (“Midwest”), under which Petitioner financed the purchase of Jaguar vehicles from Respondent.

7. Petitioner had a loan agreement with M&I Bank (“M&I”).

8. Petitioner defaulted in its obligations to both Midwest and M&I.

9. Petitioner filed for protection under Chapter 11 of the Bankruptcy Code on January 4, 2011.
10. On February 4, 2011, Petitioner filed schedules in the above-referenced bankruptcy case reporting that Petitioner’s property was valued at $2,221,232.97, and its debts amounted to $8,388,829.36.

11. Petitioner’s bankruptcy case was dismissed on March 30, 2011.

12. Petitioner owed Respondent approximately $106,309.45 for parts it purchased from Respondent.
13. On April 7, 2011, Respondent sent Petitioner a demand for payment of the above-referenced parts invoices, as well as a demand that it cure its default in not having a floor-plan financing agreement.
14. Petitioner did not respond to Respondent’s demand letter.

15. On May 9, 2011, Respondent sent Petitioner a notice that Respondent intended to terminate the franchise agreement 15 days after Petitioner received the notice.

16. Petitioner ceased doing business on or around July 1, 2011.

17. On July 19, 2011, Respondent received a notice from M&I that stated M&I’s intent to sell property replevied from Petitioner pursuant to the loan agreement between Petitioner and M&I.
Conclusions of law

Sections 407.810 through 407.835 are known and cited as the Motor Vehicle Franchise Practices Act (“MVFPA”).
  We have jurisdiction to hear a complaint seeking relief pursuant to the provisions of the MVFPA.
  Petitioner and Respondent were, respectively, franchisee and franchisor under the MVFPA.


Petitioner’s complaint alleges Respondent violated § 407.825(5), which provides:

Notwithstanding the terms of any franchise agreement to the contrary, the performance, whether by act or omission, by a motor vehicle franchisor, whether directly or indirectly through an agent, employee, affiliate, common entity, or representative, or through an entity controlled by a franchisor, of any or all of the following acts enumerated in this section are hereby defined as unlawful practices, the remedies for which are set forth in section 407.835:

*   *   *

 (5) To terminate, cancel, refuse to continue, or refuse to renew any franchise without good cause, unless such new motor vehicle franchisee, without good cause, substantially defaults in the performance of such franchisee's reasonable, lawful, and material obligations under such franchisee's franchise.  In determining whether good cause exists, the administrative hearing commission shall take into consideration all relevant circumstances, including, but not limited to, the following factors:

(a) The amount of business transacted by the franchisee;

(b) The investments necessarily made and obligations incurred by the franchisee, including but not limited to goodwill, in the performance of its duties under the franchise agreement, together with the duration and permanency of such investments and obligations;

(c) The potential for harm and inconvenience to consumers as a result of disruption of the business of the franchisee;

(d) The franchisee's failure to provide adequate service facilities, equipment, parts, and qualified service personnel;

(e) The franchisee's failure to perform warranty work on behalf of the manufacturer, subject to reimbursement by the manufacturer;

(f) The franchisee's failure to substantially comply, in good faith, with requirements of the franchise that are determined to be reasonable, lawful, and material;

(g) The franchisor's failure to honor its requirements under the franchise;

(h) The potential harm to the area that the franchisee serves;

(i) The demographic and geographic characteristics of the area the franchisee serves; and

(j) The harm to the franchisor[.]

Admissibility of copies of bankruptcy documents 

Respondent’s case relies in large part on unauthenticated copies of the contents of Petitioner’s bankruptcy schedules and the order of the bankruptcy court dismissing Petitioner’s bankruptcy case.  These documents were filed by Respondent along with a sworn certification by an attorney for Respondent that they were true copies of the documents on file in Petitioner’s bankruptcy case.  Without some sort of authentication, the bankruptcy court documents would be hearsay.

However, this Commission often does not apply technical rules of evidence.
  Where no objection is made, hearsay evidence in the record can and must be considered in administrative hearings,
 and Petitioner did not object to the admission of its bankruptcy documents.
  Had Petitioner objected on hearsay grounds, we would have been obliged to sustain the objection for Respondent’s failure to provide authentication from the clerk of the bankruptcy court.
  However, it appears that Petitioner admits to the truth of the documents, so we admit them.
Petitioner’s insolvency as a defense to the action


Respondent’s summary decision motion is based on its assertion that Petitioner is insolvent, and Petitioner’s insolvency constitutes a defense to the MVFPA claim pursuant to 
§ 407.830,
 which provides in relevant part:
It shall be a defense for a motor vehicle franchisor, to any action brought under sections 407.810 to 407.835 by a motor vehicle franchisee, if it be shown that such motor vehicle franchisee . . . is insolvent as that term is defined in subdivision (23) of section 400.1-201, RSMo[.]
“Insolvent” is defined in § 400.1-201(23) as follows:

A person is “insolvent” who either has ceased to pay his or her debts in the ordinary course of business or cannot pay his or her debts as they become due or is insolvent within the meaning of the federal bankruptcy law.

In the Bankruptcy Code, 1 U.S.C. § 101(32) defines “insolvent” in relevant part as follows:

The term “insolvent” means-- 

(A) with reference to an entity other than a partnership and a municipality, financial condition such that the sum of such entity's debts is greater than all of such entity's property, at a fair valuation, exclusive of-- 

(i) property transferred, concealed, or removed with intent to hinder, delay, or defraud such entity's creditors; and 

(ii) property that may be exempted from property of the estate under section 522 of this title; 

Respondent raises several arguments in support of its assertion of Petitioner’s insolvency.  First, it points to Petitioner’s bankruptcy schedules as satisfying 11 U.S.C. § 101(32)(A)’s requirement that an entity’s debts be greater than the fair valuation of its property in order to show insolvency.  Schedules A and B of Petitioner’s bankruptcy schedules show its property valued at $2,221,232.97, while Schedules D, E, and F show liabilities of $8,388,839.36.  Those figures provide evidence of insolvency under the Bankruptcy Code because the Code’s definition of “insolvency” is a balance sheet test—a debtor is insolvent when its liabilities exceed its assets.
  Further, as pointed out by Respondent, Petitioner swore, under penalty of perjury, to the 
accuracy of these schedules.  Therefore, those schedules appear to reflect, accurately, that as of the date of filing of such schedules, Petitioner’s liabilities exceeded the fair valuation of its property by over $6,000,000.

Respondent adduces other evidence in support of an insolvency finding.  Petitioner had failed to pay Respondent $106,309.45 for parts Respondent had sold to it on credit.  On April 7, 2011, Respondent demanded payment of this obligation, but Petitioner did not respond.  After Petitioner’s floor plan lender, Midwest, suspended its financing agreement with Petitioner on December 17, 2010, Respondent generally stopped sending new Jaguar motor vehicles to Petitioner, and notified Petitioner of its termination of the franchise agreement on May 9, 2011.    On June 21, 2011, Petitioner’s other lender, M&I, replevied collateral pursuant to its loan agreement with Petitioner.  Not surprisingly given these circumstances, Petitioner closed the doors on its business on July 1, 2011.
Therefore, without question, based on the totality of the evidence presented by Respondent, Petitioner appears to be insolvent; unless it prevails here, it cannot obtain new Jaguar motor vehicles from Respondent, it has not paid Respondent for parts it bought on credit, its default to its floor plan lender resulted in the cancellation of that arrangement by the lender, its default to another lender resulted in the replevin of a 70-page itemized list of Petitioner’s remaining assets, it acquiesced in the dismissal of its petition for reorganization under Chapter 11 of the Bankruptcy Code, and it ceased doing business.

In response, Petitioner alleges, through the affidavit of its president, Ronald W. Moore, it is not insolvent because it has not ceased to pay its debts in the ordinary course of business.  In support thereof, it first cites to the dealership agreement, which it alleges allows it to keep an open account.  Second, it alleges the order of replevin obtained by M&I was wrongly entered.  Third, it alleges that under the balance sheet test for insolvency pursuant to the Bankruptcy Code 
as cited above, it is not insolvent because its schedules failed to take into account intangible assets not carried on its balance sheet, such as good will, intellectual property, and trade secrets.  Before we can reach the merits of Petitioner’s arguments, however, we must consider a procedural argument raised against it by Respondent.
Applicable standards for summary decision

Respondent counters that Petitioner’s summary decision proof is deficient under Rule 74.04.  The problem with this argument is that Rule 74.04 does not govern our proceedings.  The Supreme Court's rules for civil actions in circuit court have no force of law before this Commission,
 except as the legislature specifically incorporates them by reference.
  Instead, we apply our Regulation 1 CSR 15-3.446(6), which provides in relevant part:

Summary decision is a motion for decision without hearing that relies on matters outside the pleadings and is not filed jointly by all parties.

(A) The commission may grant a motion for summary decision if a party establishes facts that entitle any party to a favorable decision and no party genuinely disputes such facts. 

(B) Parties may establish a fact, or raise a dispute as to such facts, by admissible evidence.  Admissible evidence includes a stipulation, pleading of the adverse party, discovery response of the adverse party, affidavit, or other evidence admissible under the law.  A party shall not rely solely on its own pleading to establish any fact, or to raise a genuine issue as to any fact.  A party may meet the requirements for the content of a motion, or for a response to a motion, under section (6) of this rule by complying with Missouri Supreme Court Rule of Civil Procedure 74.04. 

Paragraph (B) of this regulation provides that parties responding to a summary decision motion may raise a dispute to Petitioner’s alleged facts by admissible evidence.  Similarly to 
Rule 74.04(c)(2), paragraph (B) does not let a responding party rely solely upon its own pleading to establish any fact or raise a genuine issue as to any fact.  And paragraph (B) provides that a responding party may meet the requirements for responding to a motion for summary decision by complying with Rule 74.04.  “May” means an option, not a mandate.

Examining Petitioner’s response under the applicable rule, we cannot say that Petitioner failed its evidentiary duty.  It did not rely solely on its own pleading, but submitted an evidentiary affidavit from Moore, its president.  We do not see any evidentiary deficiency in Moore’s affidavit itself, and Respondent has not alleged any such deficiency except that the affidavit fails to comply with the requirements for summary judgment affidavits under Rule 74.04.

The facts still prove Petitioner’s insolvency
Whether Petitioner has stated a sufficient case to defeat the summary decision motion is another matter.  We disagree with Petitioner’s assertion that its failure to pay Respondent for the parts it bought is not evidence of a failure to pay its debts in the ordinary course of business.  While paragraph 9.3 of the Jaguar Dealership Agreement allows Respondent to maintain an open account for such purchases, it also provides that Petitioner shall pay all amounts due within ten days of the date of a statement of amounts due.  Petitioner does not dispute that it failed to perform its obligations under this paragraph.  In any case, a failure to pay one’s debts as they come due is not disproven by the fact that the original debtor-creditor relationship is styled as an “open account.”  Petitioner’s failure to pay for parts it ordered constituted one reason Respondent terminated the dealer agreement.
Petitioner alleges M&I’s order for replevin, obtained due to yet another default by Petitioner, was wrongly entered.  Assuming for the sake of argument that Petitioner is correct, undoing the replevin order would appear to return Petitioner to a balance sheet situation reflected in its bankruptcy schedules, where it stated its debts exceeded the value of its property by over $6,000,000.
Finally, Petitioner claims its bankruptcy schedules did not reflect its intangible assets such as good will, intellectual property, and trade secrets.  Our review of Petitioner’s “Schedule B—Personal Property” contradicts Petitioner’s claim.  As to intellectual property, which under the Bankruptcy Code includes trade secrets,
 Item 22 of the schedule required Petitioner to list its “patents, copyrights, and other intellectual property.”  Petitioner stated, “None.”  And as to goodwill, Item 23 required Petitioner to list its “licenses, franchises, and other general intangibles.”  A business’ goodwill is an intangible asset that is property of the bankruptcy estate.
  Petitioner claimed no intangible assets under Item 23.  Therefore, Petitioner’s own schedules indicate it did not own any such property, and certainly not $6,000,000 worth of such property.

Ultimately, Petitioner seems to argue it still has a fighting chance to succeed as a business.  That, however, is not the question before us.  The only relevant question is whether Petitioner is insolvent.  The evidence before us clearly indicates Petitioner was insolvent during its bankruptcy, and it remains insolvent today.

Summary

We conclude that Petitioner was insolvent at the time Respondent terminated the franchise agreement.  Because Petitioner’s insolvency defeats its claim, we enter summary decision in Respondent’s favor, and we cancel the hearing. 

SO ORDERED on November 15, 2011.


________________________________



MARY A. NELSON 



Commissioner

�Styled “Application for Hearing Pursuant to Motor Vehicle Franchise Practices Act and Protest of Proposed Franchisor Action.”  


�Statutory references are to RSMo Supp. 2010 unless otherwise noted.


�Floor-plan financing is a loan secured by merchandise and paid off as the goods or sold.  Black’s Law Dictionary 707 (9th ed.).


�BMO Harris Bank, N.A. was the successor by merger to M&I, but shall be referred to as “M&I” in this decision.


�See discussion below, “Admissibility of copies of bankruptcy documents.”


�Section 407.810.  


�Section 407.822.


�Section 407.815(10) & (9) respectively.


�Section 536.070 RSMo 2000; see �HYPERLINK "https://www.lexis.com/research/buttonTFLink?_m=1de8b3d4cb7d20cae00e7567786abf6e&_xfercite=%3ccite%20cc%3d%22USA%22%3e%3c%21%5bCDATA%5b2005%20Mo.%20Admin.%20Hearings%20LEXIS%20126%5d%5d%3e%3c%2fcite%3e&_butType=3&_butStat=2&_butNum=5&_butInline=1&_butinfo=%3ccite%20cc%3d%22USA%22%3e%3c%21%5bCDATA%5b136%20S.W.3d%20786%2cat%20792%5d%5d%3e%3c%2fcite%3e&_fmtstr=FULL&docnum=1&_startdoc=1&wchp=dGLbVzb-zSkAk&_md5=43654f64efe4ed57b933cef17f80e747" \t "_parent"�Lagud v. Kansas City Bd. of Police Comm'rs, 136 S.W.3d 786, 792� (Mo. banc 2004).


�Dorman v. State Bd. of Regis’n for the Healing Arts, 62 S.W.3d 446 (Mo. App., W.D. 2001).


�Actually, Petitioner objected to the information contained in its schedules, on the grounds that “the document speaks for itself.”  (Paragraph 7 of Petitioner’s response to Respondent’s statement of uncontroverted material facts.)  Speaking for itself, Petitioner’s schedules show over $6,000,000 more in debts than property. 


�Section 490.130.


�RSMo 2000.


�In re Eubanks, 444 B.R. 415, 426 (Bankr. E.D., Ark. 2010).


�Dillon v. Director of Revenue, 777 S.W.2d 326, 329 (Mo. App., W.D. 1989); Dorrell Re-Insulation v. Director of Revenue, 622 S.W.2d 516, 518 (Mo. App., W.D. 1981).


�Wheeler v. Board of Police Comm'rs, 918 S.W.2d 800, 803 (Mo. App., W.D. 1996).


�S.J.V. ex rel. Blank v. Voshage, 860 S.W.2d 802, 804 (Mo. App., E.D. 1993).


�11 U.S.C. § 101(35A)(A).


�In re HMH Motor Servs., Inc., 259 B.R. 440, 451 (Bankr. S.D. Ga. 2000).
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